FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/30/2019 4:05 PM

NO. 97279-6 (Court of Appeals No. 77507-3)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAFE ACQUISITION, LLC, a Washington corporation; LUCIDY, LLC, a Washington corporation; and SCOTT FONTAINE, an individual,

Plaintiffs – Appellants,

v.

GF PROTECTION INC., d/b/a Guardian Fall Protection, a Washington corporation,

Defendant – Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel F. Johnson, WSBA No. 27848 Cynthia J. Heidelberg, WSBA No. 44121 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND, PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 652-8660 Counsel for Plaintiffs-Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners are Plaintiffs Scott Fontaine and his two companies, SAFE Acquisition, LLC, and Lucidy, LLC, the inventors and owners of a patented line of roofing and construction products. This is a dispute over two contracts in which Plaintiffs granted exclusive rights to market and sell 12 of their products to Defendant GF Protection, Inc. (GFP). Plaintiffs claim Defendant failed to market and sell Plaintiffs' products, in breach of the parties' contracts.

Plaintiffs ask this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals, filed March 25, 2019, under RAP 13.4 and RAP 13.5. Plaintiffs timely requested reconsideration, which the court denied on April 30, 2019. Both decisions are appended hereto.

The Court of Appeals' decision affirmed one order of the trial court and denied review of another:

1. The first order concerned whether GFP could bar the Plaintiffs from speaking to a central witness in the case, the former President of GFP, Ed Marquardt. Mr. Marquardt was President of GFP from 2005 to 2014 and was the driving force behind GFP's acquisition of Plaintiffs' products. GFP fired Mr. Marquardt in December 2014 and abruptly ceased most of its efforts to market and sell Plaintiffs' products, leading ultimately to this lawsuit.

After firing him, GFP sued Mr. Marquardt in an unrelated case. Meanwhile, Plaintiffs consulted with Mr. Marquardt about facts and evidence in this case. When GFP settled its lawsuit against Mr. Marquardt, it inserted a provision in the settlement agreement that specifically prohibits Mr. Marquardt from "assisting" Plaintiffs in this case, including prohibiting Marquardt from "providing advice, information, and serving as a witness" for Plaintiffs. *See* App'x at 3.

Plaintiffs asked the trial court for to strike this "non-cooperation" provision from the Marquardt settlement because it violates public policy as enunciated in *Wright v. Group Health* and confirmed in the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPCs). The trial court denied Plaintiffs' motion, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

2. The second order of the trial court concerned new evidence that arose after the close of discovery. Four days after the discovery period ended, GFP sold all of its assets, including its licenses to Plaintiffs' patents which are the subject of this lawsuit. GFP did not tell Plaintiffs about this until weeks later, barely a month before trial. At that time, Plaintiffs asked for documents and information about the sale, but GFP refused. Plaintiffs moved to compel, which the trial court denied. The Court of Appeals denied review.

///

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do the decisions of the courts below, allowing a party to give valuable consideration to a key witness to stop him from cooperating with the other party in the case, conflict with *Wright v. Group Health* and Washington public policy?
- 2. Did the courts below commit probable error in allowing a party to conceal crucial information about the contracts in dispute because the information arose after the discovery cutoff, and do those decisions alter the status quo?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiffs licensed their patents to Defendant in 2013, and sued for breach of the license agreements in 2016.

Plaintiffs SAFE and Lucidy are companies created by Plaintiff
Scott Fontaine in order to patent certain construction products he invented.
Clerk's Papers (CP) 1-2. In August 2013, he entered contracts giving GFP
the exclusive license to manufacture, market, and sell 12 of those
products, in exchange for royalty payments on each product sold. CP 4.

Among the products GFP licensed from Fontaine was the HitchClip,
which is "the most revolutionary and versatile fall protection anchor ever
made." See CP 3 ¶ 4.4. Plaintiffs also developed several ancillary
products that are used with HitchClips to enhance productivity in ways no
other products on the market can. See CP 1-2.

3

¹ http://www.hitchclip.com/products/hitchclip.html. A roof anchor is a device that attaches to a residential or commercial roof to enable workers to attach a safety line and protect themselves in the event of a fall.

Ed Marquardt was President of GFP from 2005 to 2014. CP 91. He was GFP's chief advocate for Plaintiffs' products and possesses extensive knowledge about the issues in dispute. *See* CP 93-94. On December 4, 2014, GFP fired Mr. Marquardt, and immediately began rolling back his efforts to market and sell Plaintiffs' products. *See* CP 9-10. Nonetheless, GFP refused to relinquish its licenses to the products, leaving Plaintiffs with no ability to realize their potential. *Id*.

Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit in June 2016, claiming GFP failed to use reasonable commercial efforts to market and sell the products in breach of the license agreements. At that time, GFP was not marketing or selling 11 of the 12 products at all. *See* CP 6.

B. Defendant blocked Plaintiffs from speaking to a key witness.

After GFP terminated Mr. Marquardt's employment in 2014, it sued him for breach of a non-compete agreement. *See* CP 98. GFP insists Mr. Marquardt's termination and the subsequent lawsuit were totally unrelated to this lawsuit, and not even discoverable. *See* CP 99-100; 107.

Meanwhile, during the instant litigation, Mr. Marquardt had voluntarily spoken with Plaintiffs' counsel regarding the facts underlying their case. *See* CP 95-96. He is the author or recipient of scores of important exhibits that will be introduced at trial. CP 86. Plaintiffs plan to call him as a key witness in their case in chief. *See* CP 110. Because

Mr. Marquardt was a *former* employee of Defendant willing to speak to Plaintiffs and their counsel, they had no need to subpoena him for deposition.²

On June 30, 2017, GFP settled its lawsuit against Mr. Marquardt. Unbeknownst to Plaintiffs, GFP's counsel inserted into the settlement agreement the following provision:

Other Litigation. Marquardt agrees that he shall not assist, directly or indirectly, SAFE, Lucidy, or Scott Fontaine in separate litigation or other proceeding adverse to GFP and/or its officers and directors. For purposes of this agreement, assist includes, but is not limited to, providing advice, information, and serving as a witness. Marquardt may respond to a properly served and noticed subpoena by making statements in a deposition pursuant to such subpoena or documents in producing direct response subpoena. Marquardt shall provide no assistance to this litigation voluntarily, or without notice to GFP consistent with the rules governing subpoenas....

CP 127-128 (emphasis added). GFP did not inform Plaintiffs of this agreement with Mr. Marquardt. Instead, GFP subpoenaed Mr. Marquardt for deposition for the last day of discovery, August 7, 2017. CP 89. During that deposition, it was revealed by Mr. Marquardt's lawyer late in the day that Mr. Marquardt had some restriction prohibiting him from speaking with Plaintiffs about this lawsuit, although the exact parameters of the restriction were not disclosed. *See* CP 98-100.

5

² See Wright v. Group Health Hosp., 103 Wn.2d 192, 196, 691 P.2d 564 (1984).

At the deposition, Defense counsel used up almost all of the time Mr. Marquardt had that day, and insisted that no further deposition could be taken of Mr. Marquardt because the discovery period was over. *See* CP 90, 97-98. Plaintiffs' counsel was able to question Mr. Marquardt for only 40 minutes. *See* CP 97. After the deposition, Mr. Marquardt's counsel provided Plaintiffs' counsel with the language of GFP's settlement contract barring Mr. Marquardt from speaking to Plaintiffs. CP 127-128. GFP has refused to produce the settlement agreement itself. CP 107.

Plaintiffs moved to strike GFP's contract provision forbidding Marquardt from talking to them about this case. The trial court denied the motion without explanation. CP 217.

C. GFP sold its licenses to Plaintiffs' patents but refused to divulge evidence about the sale.

On August 11, 2017, four days after the discovery cutoff and unbeknownst to Plaintiffs, GFP *sold* the license agreements that are the subject of this lawsuit. A press release was issued by a company calling itself "Pure Safety Fall Protection," claiming to have "acquired" GFP. CP 47-48. GFP did not mention the transaction to Plaintiffs until two weeks later, a month before trial, when it remarked in a footnote to its mediation memorandum that "GFP was just acquired by The Smithfield Group." CP 27. It later told the trial court the same. CP 194. Plaintiffs immediately

requested all documents and communications that related to the sale or transfer of the license agreements. CP 61. The only document GFP provided Plaintiffs with was very limited, almost illegible, excerpts from the sale contract, omitting dozens of pages and redacting huge portions of the few pages it did produce. CP 32-45. It claimed that GFP had sold its assets but retained all rights and liabilities in this litigation. CP 130. GFP also said it had changed its name to GF Transition, Inc. *Id*.

Neither Pure Safety (the company that publicly announced it acquired GFP) nor The Smithfield Group (the company GFP told the trial court had acquired GFP) is named in the excerpts of the sale contract produced by GFP. Only one party is named other than GFP and its owner Darrin Erdahl, and that is Gemini Acquisition Corp. CP 32-45. However, the contract states that GFP would transfer its assets to yet another entity, Gemini Acquisition *Holdings LLC*. CP 33, 39. And it says that Gemini Acquisitions Holdings LLC is "a newly formed Delaware limited liability company that will be *a wholly owned subsidiary of Seller*," i.e., Defendant GFP. CP 33 (emphasis added). Thus, read literally, the excerpts suggest that GFP sold its assets (including its licenses to Plaintiffs' patents) to a subsidiary *of itself*. GFP refused to produce any additional information or documentation regarding the sale of Plaintiffs' licenses or answer any questions about the new management of those products or the necessary

parties to this lawsuit.

On September 7, 2017, Plaintiffs asked the trial court to order GFP to produce documents and information about the sale of the license agreements. They based their request on the fact that the sale had occurred after the discovery cutoff and has direct bearing on issues in this case, including (1) whether Plaintiffs would need to amend the pleadings to include any additional parties; (2) whether the only named Defendant, GFP, would be able to satisfy a judgment in Plaintiffs' favor; (3) who would be controlling the sales and marketing of Plaintiffs' products going forward, and what if anything they intended to do with them; and (4) how the parties to the sale valued the products. CP 17, 21-22. The value of the products is a central issue in this litigation. *See, e.g.*, CP 67.

GFP opposed the motion, contending the information Plaintiffs sought was "beyond the scope" of their previous discovery requests (issued long before the sale occurred) and "irrelevant." CP 68-69. The trial court denied the motion in a conclusory order supplied by GFP. CP 214.

This case had been set for trial on Sept. 25, 2017. The court struck that date *sua sponte*, and later granted Plaintiffs' motion to stay the trial altogether pending their appeal.

///

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals allowing Defendant to block Plaintiffs' access to a witness is in conflict with *Wright v. Group Health* and violates public policy.

The Court of Appeals' decision allowing GFP to enforce its contract with Mr. Marquardt prohibiting him from speaking with Plaintiffs about this litigation is in direct conflict with the policy recognized and embraced by this Court 35 years ago in Wright v. Group Health Hospital, 103 Wn.2d 192, 200-01, 691 P.2d 564 (1984). In Wright, this Court held that an employer may not prevent its current or former employees from speaking to adverse counsel. *Id.* at 203. The defendant employer, Group Health Hospital, had a policy that when a medical malpractice case was filed against it, it notified all current and former employees involved in the patient's care that they should speak about the case only with Group Health's counsel. Id. at 194. The plaintiff moved for an order permitting him to speak to current non-managerial employees ex parte. Id. This Court ruled in his favor, based on the public policy "of keeping the testimony of employee witnesses freely accessible to both parties" in a lawsuit. *Id.* at 200.³

Washington's Rules of Professional Conduct embrace the

³ The Court applied its ruling to all *current* non-managerial employees and *all* former employees. *Id.* at 201.

approach adopted in *Wright*. The drafters specifically rejected a rule that would allow a corporate lawyer to advise his client's employees not to speak to an adversary. The ABA's Model Rules of Professional Conduct expressly forbid an attorney to ask a witness not to cooperate with an adverse party, but contain exceptions, including if the witness is the client's employee. ABA Model Rule of Professional Conduct Rule 3.4(f) (2016). The Washington Rules Committee rejected Rule 3.4(f) because the exception for "employees" is contrary to *Wright*. *See* Wash. Rule Prof. Conduct 3.4, *comment* [5] (2006) (emphasis added):

Washington did not adopt Model Rule 3.4(f), which delineates circumstances in which a lawyer may request that a person other than a client refrain from voluntarily giving information to another party, because the Model Rule is inconsistent with Washington law. *See Wright v. Group Health Hospital*, 103 Wn.2d 192, 691 P.2d 564 (1984).

The WSBA's Special Rules Committee explained that it rejected Model Rule 3.4(f) because it "permits a lawyer to advise employees or relatives of a client to refrain from giving information to another party." The committee felt that allowing attorneys to block their adversaries' access to their clients' employees "would have a chilling effect on legitimate access to information," and "increase the cost of litigation by forcing lawyers to

-

10

⁴ App'x at 18, Wash. State Bar Ass'n, Report and Recommendation of the Special Committee for Evaluation of The Rules of Professional Conduct (Ethics 2003) to the Board of Governors (March 2004) at 182 ("Report and Recommendation"). *See* RAP 10.4(c).

conduct formal discovery." App'x at 18. Thus, the RPCs embrace the public policy enunciated in *Wright* against blocking access to employee witnesses.

GFP's settlement contract with Marquardt is directly at odds with that policy. It has the express purpose and effect of blocking Plaintiffs from speaking *ex parte* with a critical witness who is not a party to this suit. "Contract terms are unenforceable on grounds of public policy when the interest in its enforcement is clearly outweighed by a public policy against enforcement of such terms." *LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 48, 85, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014). GFP has never offered any legitimate interest in enforcing its non-cooperation agreement with Mr. Marquardt. Its counsel admits it "insisted" on inserting the non-cooperation clause into its settlement agreement with Mr. Marquardt for the express purpose of preventing him from talking to the Plaintiffs about this case. CP 158, 167. The clause's sole purpose and effect is to block

_

⁵ See also General Steel Domestic Sales LLC v. Steelwise LLC, 2009 U.S. Dist. Lexis 4872, *34 (D. Colo. Jan. 23, 209) (a party who uses a separate settlement agreement to bar adverse witnesses from speaking informally to its opponents in other litigation "would result in a needless and enormous financial burden with no ascertainable benefits" except to unfairly benefit that one party).

⁶ GFP attempted to advance a "legitimate" reason: fear that Marquardt might share "confidential information" with Plaintiffs. CP 161. But GFP was *already* protected from that by a pre-existing confidentiality agreement with Marquardt entered into in 2015, and there is no evidence or suggestion that Marquardt violated that in speaking with Plaintiffs or their counsel. CP 208.

Plaintiffs' access to an important witness, and thereby gain an advantage in this case that *Wright* expressly prohibits. *See id.* at 200 (the purpose of ethical rules is not "to protect a corporate party from the revelation of prejudicial facts.").

The Court of Appeals sidestepped this analysis. Instead, it noted that under *Wright*, a witness remains "free to decline" to speak with his employer's adversary, so "[l]ogically," he "is also free to agree with the employer/former employer" to decline to speak with its adversary. App'x at 9. But that "logic" is not grounded in reality. An employee would never have any reason to "agree" with his employer, in advance, not to speak with a lawyer for the employer's adversary, unless there was either consideration for doing so, or threat for not doing so. Those circumstances are categorically different from an employee who simply chooses, for his or her own reasons, not to speak with a plaintiff's lawyer

-

⁷ Either is considered witness tampering under federal law. *See Synergetics, Inc. v. Hurst*, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 61286, at *2 (E.D. Mo. Aug. 21, 2007) (finding defendant "wrongfully conditioned the settlement of a separate lawsuit" against a witness on the witness's agreement not to testify for the opposing party. "Witness tampering is a serious interference with the justice system that the court must not ignore."); *id.* at *3 ("If a witness not under subpoena has voluntarily agreed to testify for one party, it is 'serious misconduct' for the other party to dissuade that witness from testifying." (citing *Ty v. Softbelly's, Inc.*, 353 F.3d 528, 537 (7th Cir. 2003))); *see also Harlan v. Lewis*, 982 F.2d 1255 (8th Cir. 1993) (affirming sanctions imposed for defense counsel's conversations with the plaintiff's doctor in which counsel "attempted to dissuade the doctor from giving testimony or otherwise cooperating with the Harlans.").

when asked.⁸ A litigant who pays or coerces a witness not to speak to its adversary is no better (and arguably much worse) than one who, like Group Health, sends a letter "advising" employees not to speak with its adversary. If the latter violates public policy, surely the former does as well.

The Court of Appeals completely ignored the import of RPC 3.4, and misread *Wright*. It claimed that because Mr. Marquardt was still "free to testify pursuant to subpoena," GFP's contract clause "does not bar [his] participation" in the case, and therefore "does not offend public policy, or contravene the holding of *Wright*." App'x at 10. *Wright* expressly rejected this logic, noting that allowing only formal access through subpoena and deposition is not enough because "there is the need of the adverse attorney for information which may be in the exclusive possession of the corporation and may be too expensive and impractical to collect through formal discovery." 103 Wn.2d at 197; *see also* App'x at 18, Report and Recommendation at 182 (rejecting rule that would allow attorney interference with access to non-party employee witnesses because it would "increase the cost of litigation by forcing lawyers to conduct

-

⁸ The Court of Appeals also asserted there was "no evidence" Marquardt did not "voluntarily" enter into the settlement agreement, but that is not pertinent, for the reasons stated, and false. GFP admits it "insisted" on adding the clause in the settlement. CP 158; CP 107, 99-100. Thus, Mr. Marquardt's only "choice" was to reject a settlement he wanted, solely to protect Plaintiffs' right to talk with him, or to accept.

formal discovery.").

Washington law has enunciated a clear public policy against litigants interfering with their opponents' access to non-party witnesses. GFP's interference with Plaintiffs' access to Marquardt is against public policy and contrary to *Wright*, and this Court should accept review and order the non-cooperation clause stricken.

B. Denying discovery about Defendant's sale of the contracts in dispute is probable error and alters the status quo.

The Court of Appeals also let stand a discovery order that flies in the face of well-established, bedrock rules in civil litigation in Washington. Our adversarial system is built on the principle that litigation should not a game of "blindman's bluff"; a "fair, just, and efficient" system is only possible if "each side knows what the other side knows," subject to narrow limitations such as privilege. *Lowy v. PeaceHealth*, 174 Wn.2d 769, 777, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012).

The purpose of civil discovery is to disclose to the opposing party all information that is relevant, potentially relevant or reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of admissible evidence in the trial at hand. CR 26(b)(1). Counsel and parties may not unilaterally decide to withhold

.

⁹ The only Washington case GFP cites that actually involved a non-cooperation agreement is *Moore v. Blue Frog Mobile, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 1, 221 P.3d 913 (2009). But there was no legal issue raised or discussed regarding the validity of the clause in that case. *See id.* at 5. The case does not even imply that non-cooperation provisions are generally enforceable and in no way condones one like GFP's, which singles out a particular, ongoing case and bars a party's access to a witness.

properly requested information on the ground it is not relevant or admissible.

In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 152, 916 P.2d 411 (1996).

When Plaintiffs here learned, after the close of discovery, that GFP had sold all its rights to Plaintiffs' products, Plaintiffs naturally wanted to know more about the sale. CP 27-28, 61. It has obvious implications about the proper parties to the lawsuit and the enforceability of any judgment against GFP, and also raises relevant questions about who controlled the products going forward. Moreover, to the extent GFP discussed Plaintiffs' products with the buyer, those communications could obviously be (or lead to) admissible evidence on the value of the products and/or the reasons for GFP's failure to market and sell them. And, of course, the buyer's subsequent marketing decisions about the products could also be relevant and probative in Plaintiffs' suit against GFP.

When GFP refused to produce any information about the sale,
Plaintiffs moved to compel production of specific evidence targeted to
these needs. CP 17. The trial court denied the motion, stating that the
discovery was "beyond the scope of [plaintiffs'] discovery requests, not

¹⁰ As a result of this litigation, all normal business communications between the parties effectively ceased, leaving civil discovery the only realistic avenue to communicate.

15

_

¹¹ Notably, Plaintiffs' motion sought communications or other documents "relating to [the] acquisition *and* the Licensed Products and/or Plaintiffs." CP 17 (emphasis added).

relevant to the claims and issues in this case, and Plaintiffs have failed to establish good cause to conduct additional discovery after the discovery cutoff." CP 214.

The Court of Appeals denied review, finding no obvious or probable error. In doing so, it reviewed each of the three reasons quoted above from the trial court's order. First, while it agreed with Plaintiffs that they could not have made a timely request for documents that did not even exist during the discovery period, the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court did not err in denying the motion because it was not within the scope of Plaintiffs' requests. App'x at 11. In this respect, the Court of Appeals' decision makes no sense. In any event, the mere fact that the discovery deadline had passed "is an untenable reason to deny discovery" when the need for the discovery arose after the deadline. *Cook v. Tacoma Mall Partnership*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 296, *9 (Feb. 7, 2017).

Second, the Court of Appeals found no error in the trial court's conclusion that the requested information was "not relevant." In doing so,

-

16

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