FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/1/2019 4:53 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97279-6 (Court of Appeals No. 77507-3-1)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAFE ACQUISITION LLC, a Washington corporation; LUCIDY, LLC, a Washington corporation, and SCOTT FONTAINE, an individual,

Plaintiffs – Appellants,

v.

GF PROTECTION, INC., d/b/a Guardian Fall Protection, a Washington corporation,

Defendant – Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shannon M. Jost (WSBA #32511) Krista L. Nelson (WSBA #45454) Mathew L. Harrington (WSBA #33276) 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101-2393 Telephone: (206) 626-6000 Counsel for Defendant – Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Appeals Court properly refused to strike the Other Litigation Clause

In order for this Court to take review, Appellants must show that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). Neither is true.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision comports with Wright

The Other Litigation Clause does not violate *Wright ex rel. Wright* v. Group Health Hospital, 103 Wn.2d 192, 691 P.2d 564 (1984). Wright's holding is explicitly narrow: "We hold only that a corporate party, or its counsel, may not prohibit its nonspeaking/managing agent employees from meeting with adverse counsel." *Id.* at 203; App. at 9.

The present case is distinct from *Wright* in at least two significant regards. First, *Wright* is expressly limited to non-managerial employees. *Id.* Marquardt, in contrast, is the former President and CEO of GFP. As a former fiduciary of GFP, he has knowledge of GFP's confidential business information and information protected by the attorney-client privilege. Second, GFP did not "prohibit" Marquardt from assisting Appellants in this litigation. Rather, Marquardt voluntarily entered into the settlement agreement with GFP. App. at 9. He thus knowingly and voluntarily

waived his right to communicate voluntarily with SAFE, and "GFP did not unilaterally block SAFE's access to Marquardt." *Id*.

As the Appeals Court summarized, "GFP did not block SAFE's access to Marquardt, as it claims. He is free to testify pursuant to a subpoena, at which time counsel for GFP would be present to object to any disclosure of confidential information or information protected by the attorney-client privilege." App. at 9. Accordingly, the policy against a unilateral prohibition of access articulated in *Wright* was not violated. *Id.; see Wright*, 103 Wn.2d at 203 ("This opinion shall not be construed in any manner, however, so as to *require* an employee of a corporation to meet ex parte with adverse counsel."). Further, "[b]ecause an employee or former employee is not required to agree to speak with adverse counsel, the employee is free to decline to do so voluntarily. Logically, the employee is also free to agree with the employer/former employer that they will decline to engage in that communication voluntarily." App. at 9.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Washington public policy

A contract term is unenforceable on public policy grounds when the interest in enforcement of the term is "clearly outweighed by a public policy against the enforcement of such terms." *State v. Noah*, 103 Wn. App. 29, 50, 9 P.3d 858 (2000) (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF

CONTRACTS § 178 (1981)), review denied, 143 Wn.2d 1014 (2001). A contract does not violate Washington public policy where it is not "prohibited by statute, condemned by judicial decision, or contrary to the public morals" State Farm Gen. Ins. Co. v. Emerson, 102 Wn.2d 477, 481, 687 P.2d 1139 (1984) (citation omitted). Rather, an agreement is contrary to public policy only if it has a tendency to be evil, against the public good, or injurious to the public. King v. Riveland, 125 Wn.2d 500, 511, 886 P.2d 160 (1994).

The public policy exception to the private right to contract is narrow. For example, Washington courts will not invoke public policy to override an otherwise proper contract even if the terms of the contract may be harsh. *See, e.g., State Farm*, 102 Wn.2d 477 (clause in homeowner's policy did not violate public policy because insured failed to show exclusion was injurious to public or undermined sense of security for individual rights). In addition, courts are reluctant to invoke public policy to undermine contractual terms when there is no legislation or court decision that prohibits the clause. *See Cary v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 130 Wn.2d 335, 340-41, 922 P.2d 1335 (1996).

In contrast, Washington courts have long recognized an "express public policy" in encouraging settlement over litigation. *Noah*, 103 Wn. App. at 50, citing *City of Seattle v. Blume*, 134 Wn.2d 243, 258, 947 P.2d

223 (1997); Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 772, 174 P.3d 54 (2007); Seafirst Ctr. Ltd. P'ship v. Erickson, 127 Wn.2d 355, 365, 898 P.2d 299 (1995). In keeping with this strong public policy favoring settlement, Washington courts have found that a voluntary agreement to refrain from communication is not unenforceable on public policy grounds. See, e.g., Noah, 103 Wn. App. at 51 (affirming enforcement of settlement agreement that prohibited party from harassing the other, noting the Supreme Court's "recognit[ion] that knowing and voluntary waivers of constitutional rights are valid."); Moore v. Blue Frog Mobile, Inc., 153 Wn. App. 1, 221 P.3d 913 (2009) (company's reasonable belief that former executive breached non-disparagement clause in severance agreement supported a bona fide dispute that no further payments were owed), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1020 (2010).

3. The Other Litigation Clause does not violate the Washington RPC and is not "witness tampering"

Appellants further contend that the Court of Appeals "sidestepped" consideration of whether the Other Litigation Clause violates RPC 3.4 or is tantamount to "witness tampering," by "ignor[ing] the impact of RPC 3.4 and misread[ing] *Wright*." Pet. at 12-13. However, the Court of Appeals reviewed and rejected both of those arguments (App. at 7-9), finding that *Wright* was expressly limited to <u>unilateral</u> prohibitions on

access to nonmanagerial employees, and that because the Other Litigation Clause did not block Appellants from access to Marquardt, as it allowed him to testify pursuant to subpoena, and was entered into voluntarily² by Marquardt, it did not contravene *Wright* or Washington public policy.

Appellants' arguments based on the RPCs hinge on their misreading of the scope of *Wright*. Comment five to RPC 3.4 does note that Model Rule 3.4(f) was not adopted because it is inconsistent with *Wright*; however, as drafted, the Model Rule is inconsistent with *Wright's* narrow holding because the Model Rule generally allows a lawyer to request a person other than a client to refrain from voluntarily giving relevant information to another party if the person is an employee of their client. For example, a lawyer's request that non-managerial employees of its corporate client not meet *ex parte* with adverse counsel might implicate committee's concerns about the adoption of RPC 3.4. *Cf.* App. at 18. However, *Wright* does not address what companies and their former executives can agree to in the context of a private settlement agreement.

In fact, similar clauses are routine provisions in Washington employers' executive contracts. If *Wright* precluded employers from

-

² Appellants argue that the settlement agreement was not "voluntary" because "Marquardt's only 'choice' was to reject a settlement he wanted, solely to protect Plaintiffs' right to talk with him, or to accept." Pet. at 13, n. 8. By that flawed logic, no contract term could ever be "voluntary," since negotiations require a give and take.

entering post-employment agreements with former executives that limited voluntary assistance in matters adverse to the company, then virtually every non-disparagement clause would be unenforceable. That is clearly not what Washington law provides. *See, e.g., Blue Frog*, 153 Wn. App. 1.

Finally, this case is readily distinguishable from those cited by Appellants, which involve bribes or undue intimidation against testifying. For example, in *Synergetics, Inc. v. Hurst*, 2007 WL 2422871 (E.D. Mo. Aug. 21, 2007), the court addressed an inducement that a witness not *testify at trial*. In *Ty Inc. v. Softbelly's Inc.*, 353 F.3d 528 (7th Cir. 2003), the Seventh Circuit remanded a case where the trial judge failed to investigate what *could* have been witness tampering related to a witness' testimony *at trial*. In contrast, GFP did not attempt to silence Mr. Marquardt from testifying; in fact, it anticipated he would be called as a witness at trial and subpoenaed him for deposition accordingly.

Finally, to the extent that Appellants now argue that because

Marquardt was deposed on the last day of discovery, they were effectively
prevented from communicating with him, the record shows that the
deposition was scheduled at the request of Marquardt and his counsel,
Appellants had the opportunity to question Marquardt during the
deposition, and Appellants never asked the trial court for relief from the

discovery deadline in order to subpoena him for a second deposition, effectively conceding that pre-trial access to Marquardt was unnecessary.

B. The Court of Appeals properly declined to exercise discretionary review of the trial court's discovery order

The Court of Appeals did not commit probable error in declining to grant discretionary review of the trial court's discovery order because the trial court's order was not probable error, and did not alter the status quo or substantially limit Appellants' freedom to act. RAP 2.3(b)(2).

"A trial court has broad discretion under CR 26 to manage the discovery process and, if necessary, to limit the scope of discovery."

Nakata v. Blue Bird, Inc., 146 Wn. App. 267, 277, 191 P.3d 900 (2008)

(citing CR 26(b) and Rhinehart v. Seattle Times Co., 98 Wn.2d 226, 232, 654 P.2d 673 (1982), aff'd, 467 U.S. 20, 104 S. Ct. 2199, 81 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1984)), review den., 165 Wn.2d 1033 (2009)). Trial courts are afforded broad discretion in fashioning discovery orders, in particular when protecting parties from fishing expeditions that needlessly interfere with litigants' privacy. See Howell v. Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank, 117 Wn.2d 619, 629, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991). A discovery order of the trial court is reviewable only for an abuse of discretion. Id. (citation omitted).

The trial court properly determined the information sought was neither relevant nor within the scope of Appellants' discovery requests.

Contrary to Appellants' arguments, additional information about the Equity Purchase Agreement was not necessary to determine the proper party or real party in interest, or whether a judgment in this case ultimately could be enforced against GFP.³ Appellants allege that GFP breached the contracts at issue—not Gemini Acquisition Holdings LLC. CP 1-14. The portions of the Equity Purchase Agreement produced by GFP clearly state that Gemini Acquisition Holdings LLC acquired the contracts, and GFP retained all liability and assets with respect to this litigation. SCP, Unredacted Ex. 1 to Johnson Decl. Nor was the additional discovery necessary to value⁴ Appellants' products, as the record shows that Appellants' contracts and products were not separately valued and did not independently impact the purchase price. CP at 130.

Moreover, GFP did not "unilaterally" determine relevance as Appellants suggest. Pet. at 18. The trial court expressly held that the documents sought were not relevant for purposes of Appellants' claims, and outside the scope of Appellants' discovery requests. CP 214. The trial court was intimately familiar with the facts of this case and was in the best position to determine what was relevant. *See Magana v. Hyundai*

-

³ To the extent that Appellants seek <u>termination</u> of the licenses (Pet. at 17), they are free to pursue that remedy (if they have not already achieved it) against the purchaser.

⁴ Appellants now argue that information regarding the Equity Purchase Agreement would somehow be relevant to the "marketability" of the licensed products. Pet. at 17. But "marketability" in that context is simply a proxy for "value."

Motor Am., 167 Wn.2d 570, 583, 220 P.3d 191 (2009). Appellants' request for information related to the sale on the eve of trial⁵ was nothing more than a fishing expedition intended to delay trial.

Finally, although Appellants argue that they should not have been obligated to show "good cause" to conduct additional discovery after the discovery cutoff (Pet. at 19), Appellants never moved the trial court to reopen discovery or for leave to conduct additional discovery after the discovery cutoff. Instead, they moved to compel discovery that was beyond the scope of their requests, and never sought an *in camera* review of the documents. Having failed to request such relief or to make *any* argument to the trial court why discovery should be reopened, Appellants should not be permitted to make such new arguments on appeal.

V. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS

GFP requests that its costs and reasonable attorneys' fees be awarded in responding to this Petition under RAP 14.2, RAP 18.1 and pursuant to the contracts between the parties.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Petition should be denied as the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court, or public policy.

20

.

⁵ Appellants also err in arguing that there was "no trial date set" when they sought the discovery; as recognized by the Court of Appeals, "a September [2017] trial date was in place when the motion for additional discovery was made." App. at 13.